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Lhanges

Birmingham Mrs Ruth Taylor has resigned as srchaeclogical consultant to the
DAC, following her removal to Yorkshire. Or David Palliser has
been nominated as her successor,

Blackbuzrn Mr John Willians has been appointed a full member of the DAC,
to advise on archaszological matiers.

Lapidary matters

The text of & manual entitled Recoroing worked stones, nrepared by the Churches
Committee's Lapidary Working Party, has recently passed through the final
stages of uresparation and is expected to sppear within the next three months,
The manual is designed to help those who excavate or inuvestigate buildings and
have respensibility for the care, recoroing, publicetiorn, and long=term storags
of architsctural fragments.

Urben Churches working Party

The next meeting of the Working Party uill be held ain Winchester over the weekend
of 4--6 Neotaper 1985, Inguiries should be directed to fir David Stocker, Trust
for Lincolnshire Archasology, The Sessions House- Lindum Road, Lincoln LNZ 1PB.

Study of human_remains

A CBA workiig party has been established to produce guidelines for the scientific
study of human remains from archaeological excavations. Such advice is felt to

be needed because human remains are not being studiad and reported upon to any
common standard, with the result that assemblages from different sites cannot be
compared without extensive further work. In addition, it is not always r=cognized
that physical anthropology and palaeopathclogy atve two disciplines, esach of which
requirss its own expertise.

The working party has been set up with the approval of the CBA Executive Board,

in consultation with the Institute cf Field Archaeclogists, the Palaeopathclogy
Association, and the Ancient Moruments Laboratory of £nglish Heritage, following
preparatory work by members of the Churches and Archaeological Science Committees.
The core membership will be Andrew Boddington, Dr Janet Henderson, Dr Simon
Hillsen, Dr Keith Manchester, Dr Jonsthan Musgrave, and DOr Rick Jones. It is
possible that other members will be co-opted as work proceeds.

Mesting of archaesclogical consultants

A symposium for archaeolégical consultants te both dioceses and cathedrals will
be held during the Annuzl Conference of DAC members, which this ysar takes place
at Bretton Hall, near Wzkefield, West Yorkshire, betwsen 3 and 6 September.

Arrangements for the archaeolougists' meeting have still not been finalized, out
it is likely that the symposium will occupy half of one day, possibly Thursuay
5 or Friday 6 Sesptember. .Archaeologists who are members of DACs may like to
consicder attendance at the entirs conference: the programme will include coach
trips to a number of churches in the region and it is likely that archaeclogy
will be a conference theme. Details will be available in due course from tne
Council for the Care of Churches, 83 London Wall, London EC2M 5NA, Information
about ‘he consultants' symposium will be circulated to all CBA-nominatsd
archasologists as soon as date and times have besn settled.
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Nonconformist chapels in Wales

Report on a conference held at Gregynng; Powys, 12-14 October 1984, organized
by che Department of Extra-Mural Studies, University College of Wales,
Aberystuyth.

The confererce was arranged with the intentinn of building on the interaet
aroused @n nonconformist chapels by the exhibition ertitled 'Welsh Chapels'
arranged by Anthony Joner (Director, Glasgow School of Art) at the Naticnal
Muzeun of Wales, Cardiff, in 1984, The meeting brought together, probabtly for
the first time in Wales, a large pronortion of those psople actively engaged

in research on a varisty of aspects of Welsh chapels, s well as representatives
from governmental and other authorities responsible for the preservation and
Listing of buildings in Wales.

Professor I G Jones (Aberystwyth) set out the historical evidence for
noncorformity in Wales as a context for the other papers. Particular attention
was given io the role of social forcas for the level of provision of places of
religiovs worship by the middle of the 189th century, and of wmat can be gl@aned
of tne subszquent history rf Welsh religion from changing patterns of
denominationalism, responsss to linguietic change, and styles of building,

The development and iciosyncracies of chapel architesture were discussed in
broad outlime by Anthony Jones and selectively by Vernon Hughes (Welshk Office).
These patterrs were compared to the changes in church architecture in UWalss

AD 1550-182C by Dr L A 5 Butler {Leeds), These papers emphasized how the broad
develcpment of chapel architecture had been sstablished. UWhile the separation
of the external form of the chapels from their interiors was deemed to be
unnecessary and undesirable, .there was no doubt that the greatest attencion h=d
been given to the sxteriorsj considerable dstailed research remeins to be
carried out on interiors.

Dr M Saver (Hon Archivist, English Organ Archive) examined the role of organs in
chapel msetings simce 1820, He poinpted to the link between the industrial
revolution and factory methods for the design and construction of organs. The
guestion of the provision of inusic genz=rally in chapels is clearly anuther largely
unconsidered field, Re=ligious controversy betuween 1652 and 1982 in a Welsn

parish and .ts repercussions on British educstional policies were examined by

D W Smith for the parish of Berrieuw (Powys). John Hilling discussed the lives

and works of the preacher—-architects who designed chapels, and the emergence of
profassional architects from the 19th century onvarcds.

The weekend provided a useful forum for diescussion and for fellow researchers

to meet. If there was a single theme running through the papers it was the ceep
concern zxpressed about thz fucure of the chapels. Following discussion about
potential policies for recordirg and preservation, a working party wes established
to corsider the possibilitiss of founding a chapels society, of acting as a
pressure group, and for bringing together the relevent parlies responsible for,
and concerned about, the question of preservation. It is hoped that another
conferance will be organized in the near future concerned witn such matters.

Copies of the conference abstracts and bibliographies can be obtained by sending
a cheque or postal order for £0.50p made payable to the Department of Extra-Mural
Studies, Aberystwyth, to: Dr C J Arnold, Resident Tutor for Pouwys, Bronawel,
Green Lanz, Abermule, Montgomery, Powys.



Madieval cross slabs in the north-east Peter Ryder

The cross slab grave cover - a recumbent slab, usually tapered and often of

full 'eceffin 1lid' size, generally bearing a full--length cross often accompanied
by some fouom of emblem - is without doubt the mcst cummon form of medieval
sepulchral monument to survive today. It is perhaps a consequence of the great
numbars of slabs and slab fragments, and the considerable variety of cross types
and emblems used,; that little attention has been paid to the class of monument
as 2 whole Writers sxamining individual slabs, for instance those found during
an excavation, have found a lack of a scurc2 of comperative material other than
one or two ‘textbooks! of mid-19th century vintage.

Perhaps the majority of medieval churches - and rebuilt churches on medieval
sites -~ possess at least one or twec cross slabs., Often they have been reset

in the walls of porches, having come to light during Victorian rsstoratinns.
Others remzin where later medieval builders reused them in the church fabrics
internal lintels of doors, clercstory windows, or the steps of 2 newel stair
are all common locations. Less fortunate slabs lie overgrown or snattered by
ficst in churchyards. The noeds for both conservation and, even more urgently,
recorcing, are obvious,

I have been 'collecting' cross slabs, in the form o 1:10 scale drawings (Cuith
notes on location, stone type etc) for some years. In the preparation of my
MPhil thesis (Uniuersity of Sheffield 1981) I located and recorded around 350
South Yorkshire slabsj since then I have surveyed County Durham slabs fc. 550
in all), a project financed by a British Academy grant and currently 'in oress'
ae a monograph of the Architecturzl and Archaeological Society of Durham and
Northumberland, and I am wnrking. as time ard finance allows, on Northumberlard
and the remaindsr of Yorkshirz, with the esventual intent of publishing these as
well, A complete corpus of all the cross slabs in the nocrthe-east countcies -
which may total in the region of 1500-2000 specimers - would be a weight; tome
but one which would prove invaluable to archaeologists, students of mediesval
asty; and sepulchrologists,

I would be interested to hear from snyone else interested in cross slabe, and
in partiicular of any which come to light ducring excavation or simply turn up,
as they seam wont to, in unexpected places., I may be abls to provide
comparative material from my collecticon of drawings. Copies of the South
Yorkshire slab drawings are lodged with the County Ancient Monuments and Sites
Record at the Cultural Agtivities Centre, £llia Street, Sheffizld 51 4PL,.

I can be contacted at: Broomlceo, 1 Foxd Terrace, Broomhaugh, Riding Mill,
Northumberland RM44 6EJ. ’

EXCAVATION AND FIELDWORK AT CRAYKE, NORTH YORKSHIRE Ken Adams

The village of Crayke is prominently perchad on the edge of the Vale of York,
on a hill that is the most southerly outlier of the Hambleton Hills (Figure 1).
historically, it ie bast known as the site of a pre~Danish mcnastery., This is
attested by a series of references, primarily in ths 10th century Historia da
Sancto cuthberto, the first of vhich records the granting of Crayke to

St Cuthbert by King Ecgfrith of Northumbria in 685, while the latest reports
the resting at Crayke of St Cuthbért's body in 882 when the Community of

5t Cutnbert was en route from Norham to Chester-le-Street and, ultimatsly,
Durham.
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In keeping with the archaeologically elusive nature of Anglo-Saxon monasticism,
very little physical evidence that could be related to this monastery has
previously beer found, In 1937, levelling for a tennis court at Crayke Hall
uncovere< a group of Anglo=Saxon finds including an ironwork hoard and fraymsnts
of a stons cross. More relsvantly, ir 1956, excavations to the east of the
churchyard encountered 16 pre=14th century steletans. As part of 2 wider study
of the archasolcgy of the parish, in 4ugust 1983 a 10x5m excavation tcok place
under the suspices of the Lniversity of York with the alm of determining the
date, extert, and character of this cemetery, and particularly whethe: it might
be monastic (Figure 3). Stratigiaphically the results of the excavation were
disappointing, due to plough damage, but when they are added to radiocarbon
dataes, information from the 1956 excavations, and analysis of the immediate
landscape, a whole scquence of hilltop settlement can be daduced,

Few sh:eletcns wers oxcavated because of post-medieval plough damage over the
eastern three-quarters of the site. Thosc that remained consisted of the
relatively intact S1 (an 18-20 year-old female), the rather scrambled 52 (Lwo
incividuals - one old maley, the other possibly female), the <kull and phalanges
of 53, and the redeposited bones of 54, That these do rot reprasent the cdge of
the cemetery is shown by the shallow grave cut F3 containing the few fragmentary
remains of a further skeleston (S5); the cemetesy could well have exteonded further
past. As iin 1956, the sksletons were alignad rough.y west-cast, with heads to
the west. No associated artefacts were found. A rcport on the bones excavated
in 1956 and 1983 is being przparccd by DOr Keith Manches:er.

Dating evidence for thz 1983 skelietons was no better than in 19563 all that
could Se caid was that thoy were pre-14th century. Howevery, Mr A D Cliff of
Mosswoad Cottage, Crayke, provided a most vital and generous scrvice by finding
two radiocarbon determinations for samples from 51, The results wers 680 = 90
and 810 = 903 at two standard deviatiors ths overlap between the two is 6306860,
which is close ta the historical monastic limits of 6B85-~882, It cen thus be
pnstulated that the Cestle Fisld cemetery belonoed to the period of ths
Anglo=5axon monastary.

With this established, a possible mcrnastic layout can be deduced. In the 1936
excavations no bones were found in the north gquarter of trke trench (Figure 3)°
this could be evidence of a norch limit to the cemetery. To the west, tne
skoletons continue into the present churchyard, where one has bean uncovered
during recent grave digging, but cthere i< evidence to suggest that the west
limit is soon reached. Mr Pipes; a former Crayke gravedigger, reports that
natural deposits are reached a foot or so down uver the west half of tne church-
yard, to the e3st of which the soil becomes deep=r, presumably with the
commencement of the cemtery., There is no sign of an esast limit,

If the cemetery is ths north limit of the monastery, svidence to the south is
provided by the 1937 tennis court finds; their provenance cannot be fortuitous.
It would sezm that the monastery stretched down the relatively gentle slope to
the south—uwest (Figure 4). There is no further corroborative evidencej skeleton
S1 and grave cut F3 are aligned neither with the present church (which i3 in line
with the 1383 trench) nor the cortours of that part of Castle Field, They would,
however, be in alignment with a church to the south-west positioned at right-
angles to the slope, perhaps sliaghtly to the sast of the similarly aligned

Crayke rall,

As Tegards lines of communication at the time of the monastery, the Ecgfrith
grant intended Crayke to act as a staging post on Cuthbert's trips to York.



It follows that there alould have been a direct route to the south. Until at
least 1630 there was indeed such a.road that passed through Huby and Skelton

on its way to York. In local terms, there is no reason to assume that the core
of the present road system, the convoluted T=juncticr of the roads from Coxwold,
Brandeby, znd York, has changed since monastic days.

If the foregoing svidence and ergument -is accepted the present church would

have to be a later foundatior., This fits In well with tnes postulated first
pust—-monastic phase, which consists of settlement zrovnd a large triangilar .
green on the south side of the hill. with the fovmation of a large field on the
north sicde. The west and east sides of the oreen ware formed by Brandsby Streest
and Church Hill, while thz north side wzs defined by a road, hereafier iLermed
North Lane, which is now blocked off but which ran in front of the church,
through Crayke hall, and joined Brandsby Street.. I%ts course hefore it jained
Brandsby Street is now marked by a2 strip of open land. Settlement must initially
have besn fairly limited, probably strung out zlong the west side of the green.

This large green need not be seen as a plenned .feature: it was primarily

the result of the laying nut of the field to the north., This field takes
sccount admirably of the restrictions imposed on ploughing by topography and

the existing roads. Its south limit is dictated by the road from Coxwcld Its
west curved bourdary marks the limit of feasible plrughing, as beyond this

point the couvth facing hill curves steeply rourd to face the west, 1Its north
boundacy is determined by the breaxk in slope betueen the hill and the fl-tter
land to the north, The north laimit of the green is simply due to the eastward
crojection of these boundsries to form s well-proportionad fisld, hersafter
known as Noith Field. Love Lanz, the north-south path that bisects the field at
present. i3 a later addition., .This is shown by the ridge and furrow which
crosses it from Castle Field to the Tield to the eas*. Due to later settlement
it is impossible to prove without excavation that plounhing extended to tne area
now covered by the church end castle, but given the irtegrity of the boundaries
of the propossed field and the esvidence for a monastic layout distinct from the
pressnt ecclesiastical topography, this suggesticn is the most plausible,

The next phase involived the establishment of the church and manor meritioned in
Oomesday. Tha church was sensibly cited,; at the summit of the hill and along
North Lane. The manor was presumably to the west of the site of the later cestls;
there is nn trace of it except perhape in the evidence for a trackway resulting
in the bisection of North Field, as is suggested by the slignment of the west
edge of the ridge and furrow that crosses Love lane.

The first Cravxke Castle replaced ths manor, parheps by the late 12th century,
and its most obvious legacy is the motte which lies behind the present cactle,
The earliest evidencs for a castle precinct comes from pit F4 of the 1982 trench
which contained ashy deposits and considerable guantities of late 13th—asarly
14th century pottery. Together with aress of stoae reddened by fire and coverad
with ash in the 1956 trench; this could be taken ag eviderce for an ancroachment
on North Field by a work area associated with the castls. In the course of
digging this pit what must have been a surprised Crayke innepitant encountered
some skeletons and in good Christian fashion acranged the bones of at least
three individuals on thz edge of the pit.

The present castle, together with the now ruined 'new tower', vanished stavles,
and a barcn, the earthworks of which are to the north of the churchyard, was
constructed in ths 15th century, There are, in association with the barn, traces
of 2 wall running to the cast., This would seem to represent part of the precinet
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boundary. In the 1983 trench a pit (F6) filled with stone packing was found
which by modern anology could be interpreted as the hard standing for a
gateway; next to it was F7, the setting for a gatepost. These imply a north--
south edge to the precinct joining the earthuwork wall.

Associated with the castle precinct, petnaps from the start, was Love Lane,
or rather its prececessor, immediately to the west, which is still visible

as an earthwork and was located in the 19283 excavation \F5). Presumably, the
parlier 'manorial! path bad been rendered less useful by the larger cactle
precinct and a new 'tradesmen's entrance' to the asst, going both north and
south, was found more useful,

cometime between Domesdey and the 15th century a planned extension was added
to the village along Brandsby Street, with the tell-tale sharacteristice of
rous of regular tofts and back lanes. The north row was sited in part of
North Field.

At an urknown date before the 16th century, but after the planned addition, the
churchyard was extended to the south. Thie resulted in the blocking of North
l.ane and the establishment of a new road to the south which incorporated the
east half of Key Lane. Houses were built along the north side of this rcad,
the first stage in the process of filling in the green. Ultimately, love Lane
was adopted as the new east edge of the green, the west end of Kev Lare was
diveried couth and the remaining space built upcn.

Work contirues. In perticular, fieldwork and research into written records
should clarify the dating of the planned extension to the village. Houwevser,
it is the pre-Danish religious community and the two phasss of settlement that
succeeded it that are of particular interest. Archaenologically, monasteries
of this period are not well understood and Crayke seems to be among the few
about which something positive may be said and more is ascertainable., The
Crayke seguence is also likeiy tc be of relevance to discussinn of what
happened to religious communities in the north during the 9th and 10th
centuries. Consideration to both these topics will be given in the final
publication.

CASES
Reptcn 1984 Martin Biddle and Birthe Kjﬁlbye~Biddla

The excavations at Repton in 1984, the 11th season, were in some ways thc most
productive yet = in results, in new interpretations, and in the discovery of some
remarkable artefacts. Work took place on threes zites: by the church of

St wystan, in the Headmaster's kitshen gaiden, and in the Vicarage garden.

But we also took the opportunity to invite Dr Arnold Aspinall from the !Iniversity
of Bradford to carry out an electrical resistivity survey ta see if he could
confirm tne course of the east side of the Viking winter fortress of €73-4

first discovered in 1979,

Arnold Aspinall's results were conclusive: the course of the ditch was traced
almost exactly as predicted running in a curve belrw the cloister of the
Augustinian priory to end towards the north on the south side of the 0ld Trent
Water. We can now see that the Viking fortress snclosed a D-shaped area of
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abcut 1.4 hectares (3.5 acres) on the south bank of the former course of the

river, It was defended by a bank and ditch.which incorporated the Anglu-Saxon
church as a strongpoint and probsbly as a gatehouse. The construction of the
fortress involved the axcavaticn of 13,500 cubic metres of soil aleng a total
length of 175m, a task which wculd have taken 200 men about five weeks to complete.

Almost exactly in the centre of the cefended area, the trench in the Headmaster's
kitchen garden has now uncuvered a very large and steep-sided excavation cut
into the cliff of the 0ld Trent and running back about 26m (B5.3 feet} from the
top of the cliff, to a total distance of 32 to 34m (105-112 feet) from the raver
bank. The investigation of this feature will be a major objective of the next
s2ason in 1985, At present all we can say is that it had become a grase -grouwn
hollow by the time it was deliberately filled in about the end of the 12th

or early in the 13th century. But we suspect that it wes originally a dock, or
more probably a slip, cut into the Trent cliff to provide eitner a loading

place or, mors likely, a ship repair yard. UWhether this will turn out to be

a Viking dock cr some fsature to do with the serly years of the Augustinian
priory ir the late 12th century, we cannot yet say but the arparent relationship
between the 'dock' and the Viking defences ssems to suggest the possibility that
the Viking winter fortress at Repton was really a defended ship base, designed
to protect the highlv vulnersble long-ships as they were pulled on chore to be
caulked and tarred over the winter season.

For many years now the excavations north of the east end of St lystan's church
havz been investigating the earliest stages of tne Anglo-Saxon church ard
particulariy the graveyard arcund the crypt. This ysar the end of the excavation
of the graves at last came within reach {the last gyraves will picbably be

cleared ir 1985) and we could see that cuite extensive areas of the early layers
on the site remain intact. These have been the principal objeciive of our work
here because they will give us. the onlv chance to inves*tigate the very earliest
phases of the monastery. The discovery this year of two fragments of a very

fine blue glass cone heaker of the period 600-800, dacorated with trails of

white glass, shows that these early layers contain information of the first
importarce. Moreover, the stratification relating these layets to the crypt and
other early features of the church survives relatively intact north of the crypt,
whereas to sast and south in previous ysars we found that the relationshins had
besn almost entirely destroyed by axcavations in 1896, 1922, and in the early
1930s. We began the sxamination of thase early layers this year in the -e=-
entrant angle between the crypt and the north-east projection of the central
space and did enough to show that the relationships between all the successive
phases of construction of the Anglo-Saxon churcir can be established here but

that the evidence is extremely complex and requires a great deal of time to
rocord what is uncoverad st sach stage of the work. This is not, and must nou
be, a quick operation if we are responsibly to record what the work of excavation
inevitably removes and destroys.

There are now two excavations in the vicarage garden. Against the churchyard
wall our excavation was bagun last year to investigate a mound which appears
also 2n ths churchyard side of the wall and lies exactly on the axis of the
church, 0On the vicarage side this mound has turred out to be part of 8

medizval bank running along the east (churchyard) side of a2 hollow way, the

two forming the medieval west boundary of the churchyard. Curiously, and
perhaps not insignificantly, at the exact centre of the 'mound' - now appa=ently
disproved on the vicarage side of the wall - we found one half of a magnificent
Anglo~Saxon carved grave cover of 9+h century date. This is the finest pisce

of Anglo-Saxon sculpture yst found in Repton. for although the Repton Store
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found east of the church in 1979 is much more important for what it shouws, the
artistic quality of the new discoverv is outstanding. The new slab is rounded
at one end and is ridged along its length, To each side of the ridge, there is
a panel with two confronted animals, in one case interlsced with a separate
pattern and in the other interlaced by their own greatly extended limbs and
bodies, The style 1s known from other works of the period and is perhapy best
compared with the metalwork of the Tiewhiddle Hoard found in Cornwall and
deposited ¢ 872-5. The Reptcr grave cover is also comparable to one found at
Ramsvury (Wiltshire) and here too a 9th century date is appropriate.

Excavatinn has rot yet gere below the level at which the grave cover 'as found
but it is clear that the next season in this area is going to be most
interesting, not least in helping us to understard how the topography of this
nart of Repton devsloped and how the churchyard came to teke its present form,

Sin~e 1980 the rain excavation in tne vicarage garden has been that of the mound
first opened in the 1680s ard now xnown to have contained a Viking burial of
high renk, accompanied by the hones of some 250 other ipdividuals., In 1984 we
investigated the body of the mound and showed that it had in all probability been
scraped up from the sdrrounding ground and piled up to form a low mound which
coveraed both the Viking grave and the remains of ths earlier masorry building

in which the Viking grave and its accompanying deposit of human bones had oeen
placed. The mound never exceeded a height of about 0.3m (1 foot) and had been
crowned by a karb of irregular stones which indicested the outline of the nouw
buried building. The boedy of thne mound contained a silver sceatta (2 'proto-
penny ') minted perhaps in the territory of the Huicce (later sovth—uwest ldarcia.
now approximately Worcestershire and parts of Gloucestershire) in the 740s, 3
seiies of decorative pins of copper-alloy and orie of silver, pieces cf very

fine continertel vessel glass, come of it highly oeconrated, of the 7th to Sth
centuries, window glass of the same period, and sherds of Middle Saxon pottery.
All this material must have been scraped up with the earth of the mound ana

it, therafore, relates to the earlier, pre-Viking use of the site., e also
found that the mound had covered and, therefore. preserved a large area of 'old
ground surface' acound the early masonry building. Next year, therefore, we can
expect to recover more of the same kind of material in contexts which will be
related to the building itself, which we suspect to be of 7th or more proosbly
8th century date and perhaps a mortuary chapel of the highest rank.

Outside this building to the west and in a later deposit we found this year a
silver dernier of Pepin the Short (751-68) minted at Verdun, cnly the second
coin of this Carolingian ruler known from England.

Work will take place in 1985 on all the sites described above by the kind
permission of the Headmaster and Governors of Repton School, the Vicar of
Repton, and the Parochial Church Council, to all of whom, as to our sponsors
The Center for Field Reszarch ('Earthwat:h') we are wholly indebted for the
success of the work in 1984,
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The Schoul of History of Birmimgham University held the second season of

its research project on the historicel landscape, the church, and the churchyard
of Wootten Wawen in late June and July 1934. Only tne work at St Fater's

church is repotted here; the other ectivities are described in Bassett 198¢,

The =econd season of structural recording and analysis of St Peter's cirurch
proved very worthwhile, if hectic. Large aveas of the rubble walls are to be
rapointed in the near futurs, a necessary operation which may, nonethelass,
obscurs important details of the early fabric., Accordingly a cresat deal of
drawing was done this year: the nurth wall of the rave was completed and its
west wall and the north wall of the tower were drawn in their sntirety, A lot
remairs to be dons in the study of =211 threes walls out chis first opportunity
to examine their unper parts from close up bore out several earlier sugpgestions
(Bzssett 1983), The most important one concerns the north belfrsy window of the
tower. This was confirmed to be a gable-headed opening witn its head the best
preserved of the three externally visible windows. It had been more thoraughly
infilled than the east and south windows so that there was no distinst sign here
of the spleying of the sides which the other two snow. However, the externsal
dimensions of all thrse are closely similar, and there is clear evidence inside
the tcwer that this window tco is deuble-splaved. ‘Lcwer down on the same face
two other nbservations wars made. firet, nothing new uas found to show whether
or not the single-splayed winduw in the second stage of the tower was an
original feature., Its external Tace has teaen rebuilt within the last tuwo
centur.es, with brick jambs arc voussoirs of roof tilesj and the pointing
around the window is so hzavy that any slight evidence that the window was
sgcondary is invisible., Second, it looks as if the uppar parts of the side
walls of the nerth porticus may only have been partly ir bond with the tower,
The intervals between bonded and unbonded sections atill need to be estatblished
precisaely but some of them may coincide with the building lifts.

Inside the church work continued on the lowest 5m of the outer face of the
tower's soutn wall, which is accessible in the Lady Chapel. In 1983 the west
half of the wall had been stripped of the plaster put ontc it in or just after
1881. Tnie year the remainder of the plaster was removed and the newly exposed
fabric was recorded (Figure 5). As a result the south faces of the long-and-
snort quoins of the NE corner of the tower's lecwest storey were uncovered

(cf Radfcrd 1979, 77). So teoo was the scar of the east wall o the south
porticus; clearly visible except where hidden behira & large memorial tablet
of 1906 and 0.59m (27in) wide,  Unlike the west 'all scar found in 1983, chis
one seems to nave been considerably distu.bed by the late 19th century
restaorers, To judge from the few unaffected parts; the medieval demolishers
of the wall had backfilled all the deeper parts of the scar with martar and a
few small stcnes, preparatory no doubt to plasiering over it., Most of this
material, however, was scoured out again by the restorers, to be replaced by

a lot of small flat stones anc some fragments of roof and plain floor tiles in
a very hard. distinctive, cement,

This east wall had been fully in bond with the touer to a height of 4.4m. Above
that levsel and just to the south of tha scar, there must have been an opening

in the wall, presumsbly a window. Curing derolicion of the wall one or moiz
large rectangular stones seem to have been removed and the resultant void
infilled with smzll stonas in = poor-guality mortar. The latter is very similar
to mortar, found in 1983, uhich had been used to infill voids caused by the
removal of jazmb stones from the north side of a2 doorway in the west wall of the
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porticus. It is not possible to say what form the window took, sinue the
onening itself was entirely within the demolished wall, or to decide houw many
stones are represented by vhe infilled vold without exploratory work (though
there wese probably nc more than two, side by gide), Moresover, tha lesvel at
which the void occurs need not be that cf the window's sill, which could have
been lower and less deeply set into the wall on this sice. WNone of the staones
within the wall line which are above the void are shattered; this may mean that
a piece of the uwindow's ashlar lining wss se* against tham, though other
explanations are possible.

A window so close to the junction of the porticus wall with the towsr would

seem peculirrly positioned were it not for tne existence of annther window next
to it. Although dismantled and subseguently infilled, this window's former
positicn can be made out as a sub-rectangular featurs in the tower wall
immediately west of the east wall scar, with its lowest point ¢ 4.15m above
notional ground level. Again, without exploratory work inveolving mortar removal
the form of the uindow cannot be determined. Presumably it had an ashlar
su=rnund -~ otherwise the outline preserved in the wal. would have been far

more regular — and was to some extent splayed.

Tha =lose juxtaposition of the tvo windows was certainly a deliberate attempt

to admit as much daylight as possible to the lowest storey of the tower. Some
light doubtless ceme in througn the four tower arches from cther parts of the
church but the area's best illumination would have been provided Ly a

combination of two windows such as this, particulacly if the outer windcw was

set slightly higher than the inner one, as may have been the case here . 0One
might well have expected thera to be windous of th.s sort in the NW angle,

rather then (or as wsll as) in the NE one, s0 as to admit better (or much more)
light; out there is no sign of any having been there. This may not be significant
but if it is, it could reflect the intasrnal arrangement ot the lowest storey of
the south porticus., Tnere was presumably an altar against its east wall (hence
the asymmetrical positioning of .he porticus in reletion to the south towsr arch).
Therefore, if the porticus was ‘two-storeysd as seems guite likely, access to the
upper level would presumably have been by means of a etairwvay against the west
wall. This would have risen from south to north, if it was to avoid the

doorway at the north end of the weet wall, and so prevented the setting of such

a pair of windows in the NW angle.

The other important information from this year's plaster removal concerns the
round head of the south tower erch. In the first interim repcrt it was suggested
that it might be secondery, the replacemenc for a qable head on the same imposts
and jambs. This suggestion is now greatly strergthened by the discovery that

at leasc four stones adjacent to the present head appear to have been cut back

in situ., In each case part of the stome has been broken off to accommodate one
of the head stones, some of which projsct a long way back into the wall fabric.
The four clear instances of this are shown in plack on Figure 5, but e few other
stones which possibly had the same treatment have nct been blacked un. It seems,
therzfore, that they had origipally been laid up to a differently shaped head.

It can also be seen from Figure 5 that several more of the stones adjacent to
the present round head ars noc particularly close-fitting, This is very
noticeaple in the case of four of those beside the lowest stone on the west

side of tne head but occurs elsewhece as well. A similar impression is gained
from the external face of the tower's north wall, though the heavy modern
pointing there obscures some of the stones' edges. In both cases it seems
likely that stounes nearest to the head ol the tower arch were originally Laid up
to the sshlar slabs set to form a gable; Figure 5 indicates that they would

have fitted against them far more comfortably.,
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In addition, the north and south touwer.arches shars another characteristic

which suggests that their round heads may be secondary. Both have .imposts and
jambs constructed of through-stones, with the latter, most cf wihich are of
megalithic proportions, laid in ‘'Escomb fashion's. By contrast their heads are
made of mucn smaller stones, ncne of them through-stores. 0One cannot improve

on the Taylors' description of the hesds: 'the round arches each heve a

rubhle or plastared section in the centrwe of the soffit (ie underside) e

Where the walls ace not plastered it is possible to see that, whereas the lower
voussoirs are of thin stones of the shape of ths projecting strip-mouliing,

the uppet vousscirs are of considerable depth, bonding inte the wall, with tne
strip-mouloing worked on their exposed faces hy cuttirg back the remainder'
(1965, 686). Indeed the lona thin lower voussoirs have the apnearance nf stones
which wers taken down from other arches for reuse here, whereas the much cruder
upper ones were probably cut for their present setting. As a result of these
various differcnces, the two heads do not sit well on their respective jambs

and impostss they make their doorways look bottom-heavy. Gable heads furmed

of large througn-stones would have given a much more well-propcortioned appsarance.

The west tower arch is far laiger than the north and south ones but its round
haad is af very similar construction (axcept that it has no thin stones). As
the whole nf its west side is hidden behind & 16th century screeny Jjts general
effect caniwt be judged; on the east side only the strip moulding is not
thicklv plastered, By coritrast the east tower arcr, although also round
headed, is very differesnt in most important respects. Tt is largely constructed
of big, well-matched, thrcugh~stonss. These are all of considerable depth,
with the strip-moulding formed (as in the other three heads) by cutting bhack
above; bui in this case the strip-moulding is considerably thicker. 0On ite
west side, moreover, there are two oragers, the inrer of which is set well back
from the arris, These differences together make *ine east tower arch much more
setisfactory as a whole., That is not to say that its round nead is rneceusarily
original. Plaster removal would be required to show if it isy or if it Is

only a more successful replacement than those undertaken on at least two of

tne other three towsr arches.

One other aspect of the south wall of the tower should be mentioned. 1In 1983
sgvaral stones in the wall above tre towser arch uwere thoujht likaly to be
voussoirs of a small window, siill partly hidden by plaster, which bhad been
truncated by the insertion-of the round head., After further plaster removal
and cleaning of the wall mortar these can now be s=2en to be part of a course
of stones forming a relieving arch of sorts above tne doorway- An isolated
piece cf oolits, to which attention was drawr in the 1983 report, no longer
seems to have had any special eignificance. Just sbove this course the
appearance of the wall face changss. The stones used are much larger and lees
elongated, though no better coursed than those below., The level at which this
change occurs was presumably the junction of two lifts and represents an interval
in the building programme. A similar change lower down seems to occur at the
level of the imposts of the tower arch,.

Before this wall face is replastered, Lhree essential jobs remain to be dore.
One is to take mortar samples from differsnt parts of the wall. Comparison

of them should be of considerable help in resolving the main structural problems
discussec above. The second jub is to empty out the poor-guality mortar which
was backfilled into the voids in the scars of the two porticus wall. It i:
certain that the south porticus had been demclished by about the middle of the
13th century when a much lazrger chapel was built on its site (of which only a
little survives). - There is no reason, huwevar, why it should not have stood
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until then., Emptying the voids will add important information about the
doorway in its west wall and the probanle window in the east wall, The third
job is to reclean the whcle wall face so as to identify putiog noles (for
horizontal scaffolds) and tc empty them of their backfill., Two have been
fouhd, buc there may well be others rot yet detected.
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St Andrew, Dacre, Cumbrie Roger Leech
1983

Following the trial excavations of 1983 (see Bulletin 17) a larger area uas
examined to the north of the church., The following structures are now
indicated:

1 Immediately north of the ancient rorth poundary wall of the churchyard is

an earlier boundary feature. Its construction and an occupation area
immediately to the north of, and abuttirg 1t. bslong to an aceramic period.
Finds include window glass, a millstone, Samnian ware, a middle Saxon .com
weight, but no pottery of medieval date.

2 Further north, the excavated arsa can be subdivized. O0n the west, 3
timber building of post in posthole constructicn has been identifiecs
this apparently belengs to an aceramic pnese and is the first structure of its

type identified within the region.

3 Further ecast is an area of pits and beyond tnat an area of possible

cultivation trenches and pits, presumably intercut by graves identified
in 1984, Tha fills of these features produced numerous iron artefacts, two
sherds of possible Saxon pottery, but no medieval pottery at all.

Other firds of carly date from the excavation include two coins deted AD 848-
54 and two further fragments of loomweights, AIl objects are being plotied
three dimensionally, The plots of objecls from this year's work show clearly
the extent of those layers with medisval pottery (11th/12th century and later)
and the extent of those which are aceramic. An absolute chronology for the
site should be provided through C14 dates. Datirg for various samples is nouw
being sought,.

1984
This season's excavetion aimed to solve the variaus problems raised by the

previous year's excavation and to open at least part of the remaining churchyard
extensior,

1 It proved that the boundary features in the south part of the site were
more complicated and had existed over a much longer timespan than

previously anticipated. The known stone wall was dated to the early 13th

century by numismatic and ceramic evidence, broadly contemporary with the
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surviving chancel, beneath which was a bank with numerous additions. producing
artefacts dating from the 8th to 12th centuries. This was clearly linked to
the ditch to the north, which previously had besn presumed to be & wall
foundatinn trench.. This seewms to have been iecut 2n many occasions and also
produced material dated from the 8th to 12th centuries. " The earlier datable
material from these consistec solely of metaluork, including two bronze pins
and one silver. a silver clasp, a bronze strap end, 2 buckle, and numero.s
scréps of bronze.

2 Beneath the west part of the bank was & spread of rubble, sither a

demnlition or a lsvelling phase, and beneath this was a uall, slightly
more than 1m wide, faced by squared stones with a cobble core, running trnue
north-south across the south part of ths site, as cpposad to the later boundary
faatures which were parallel to the church, siightly north of true east-uwest.
Immediately to the east, half a melon beed wes found durirng the general removal
of soil to reveal the wall. The wall ends abruptly at the south 1lip of the
dit=h but it hints at turning east rather than being cut. There is no trace of
it to the north of the ditch. It was followed south until it disanpeared amid
18th ard 19th century. burial activity.

3 Within the make—up of the medievsl wall and lying on the earlier bank was
a large cquantity of worked red sandstone. Enough was recoversda to suggest
that = monumental stone building was being guarried for stone g AD 1200, The

chancel nf the present chuzch also contains many pieces of red sanrdstone.
These may come from an earlier church or some other largs stone building-,
presumably pre-Conguest, in the near vicinity.

4 To the north of the. dilch, 2 circular timber structure was uncoverad

beneath the proposed aceram:c occupation area around tine reused millstune
hearth, It was clearly sealed by this occupation so mdst pre-date it., No
duting svidence was firmly associsted with ib but it wses first seen at the
some lavel as produced some Romano-British coarse ware. This structure seemed
tn have heen cut‘back into the hillside.

5 To the east, a substantial cemstery was excavated. This contained 70
excavated graves, though the bone preservation was minimal., Only one grave
contained any artefacts, a glass bead; all were orientated approximately
east-west, and there seems little doubt that the people buried were Christian.
At the wes*: the graves were sealed by slumping down the hillside over which was
a rubble spread of 12th to 13th century date. To the sast, the graves clearly
run under = medieval structure of 14th to 15th century date. There was no
pottery =ssociated with the cemetery levels vhatsoever. The extenc of the
cemeterv has not yet been established: it clearly extends further to the east
and, although lessening in density, exists to the south of the ditch, benzath the
boundary bank. No clear boundary has been found on gither west or north,
despite careful excavation, though the graves do not extend in either direction
as far as the edges of the trench. 1t must be presumed that on thesu sides at
least it was unenclosed. Thie cleaarly has no asso-.iationwith the later bcunoary
features on the site. At least three phasses of burial exast in the west pact

of this cemetery, two denoted by being parallel with the boundary featuies,

the third and possibly earliest iying more truly east-uwest, parallel uith the
early wall. =

6 The north half of the remaining area of the churchyard was openad and

the extent of the cemetery within it examined. Traces of agricultural (?)
activity were identified, which did not appear to affect the cemetery. Ths
assumption must be that tie proposed agricultural asctivity was earlier. It must
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be roted that almost all the flints found on the site were from this upper
terrace,

7 Medieval features were identified at the east end of the trench, apparently
continuatiocns of the earthworks seen in the field to tha east. A ditch and the
edge of a platform were identified as was a stone spread with associated
postholes to the south, All seem to cate from the 14th and 15th centuries,

8 Other possible postholes were identifisd at the south-west corner of the
1984 ‘rtench but without a fu-ther extension of the excavated area, no
sense could be made of them.

The 1984 excavations at Dacre proved beyond doubt that most of the major features
s0 far e<cavated belong to the period between the end of the Roman Empire and

the Norman takeover in AD 1092, The general assemblage of artefacts from this
period ir the region has been greatlv increased by the excavations, as has our
understanding of building techniques wsed. The present unigueness of the sits

i the region makes it likely that it will nake an impoirtant contrioution to

our understanding of the perioc and that immediately following the Norman
Conquest,

St Albans Abbey . Birtne Kj#lbye-Biddle and
‘ Martin Biddle

The excavalions which began in June 1982 in Abbey Oichard, on the site of the
medieval cluoisters, came to a very successful conclusion with an extra week in
September 1984, in what was quite the wettest week of the summer. The hole has
now been filled in but the site will ke left fenced at .ieast until the spring
to allow the grass time to recover. The wnrk lasted nineteen weeks over the
three ysars and occupied 2899 mar-days, contributed entirely by volunteers from
this courtry and abroad, notatly from the United States under the ‘'Earthuwatch'
scheme., Many cathedral families and cthers welcomed volunteers as gueste in
their homes for weeks on end each vear. For these, and mary other kindnesses,
we are greatly indebted to many friends in the city - and not least to our
friends and colleagues in the Verulamium Museum.

Our objective was to test the thzory - first proposed in terms Jf modern
historical scholarship by Wilhelm Levison im 1947 = that the crigins of the
abbey lie in a Romano-British basilica erectec over the grave of the marty:
Alban. Ve dic not expect to find the obasi".ica but we hoped to be able to
discovel whether there was a context for Alban's burial on the site in the 3vd
century, such as an already existing cemetery, and whether there was a context
also for the subsequent growth of his cult. We also hoped to learn something
of the Anglo~-Saxon monastery and of the development of the great cloister of
the Norman and later centuries. Apart from our own excavations on the site of
the neu chapter house in 1978, there had been no pravious archaeological
excavation of a modern kind anywhezre south of the abbey.

The principal results are four, First, there is a Romano-British cemetery on
the site. Second, this cemetery was replaced some time after 350 by a gravelled
area which was used by people who lost a lot of coins but broke relatively
little cotterv, people in other worde who were attending something like a faics
or a market ratker than living on the site. Third, there was no trace of the
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Anglo~Saxon monastery or of its' church, except for some ob jects which turped up
in later layers. Fourth, the medieval great cloisters evolved by a serigs of
extensions and rebuildings out of a smaller cloister which can be identified

ac that built by Paul of Caen hstueen 1077 and 1088. :

Each of these results requires more comment than we have swace for here and
(except for the last) each presents specisl pioblems.

The Romano-British cemetery = an entirely new discovery = probably stre*cnes

over a large araes down the hill towarcds Verulamium. Of the twenty inhumation
graves found in the present excavatior’ two are dated by soins to the middle of
the 4th century and the remainder are dlso probably of 4ch century date. Fecause
of strict prohibitions about ths disturbarce of buiials, Roman cemstzries tended
to expand over an even larger area. A part ol this cemetery in use in the 3rd
century, when Alban was martyred, may, therefors, lie quite close.

But there seems little doubt that the graves uncovered are pagan: the presencs
of grave gcods in most of them, although not a certain procf of paganism, should
probably be seen in conjunction with the north-—south oriantation of some of the
burials and the occurrence of a series of cremations as establishing the pagan
chacacter of this part of the cemetery in the 4th centurvy. This is nc bar to
the contemporevy existence of a Christian opurisl grourd a short distance away.
The discovery of the cemetery — albeit a late and pager part of it - thus
provides a potential context for the burial of Alpoan somewhere in the vicinity.

The ch=nge of land use marked by the gravelling of the areas after the middie

of tne 4tn century is striking The indication provided by the finds that the
site was now frequented by relatively large numbers cf people would fit vell with
the presence nearby of a basilica over the grave of a saint whose relics

were now the focus of a popular cult. This change of use may, therefore,

provide a context for the growth and ponularity of Alban's cult.

The abserce of any trace of the Angio-Saxon monastery means only that the small
area excavated does not woincide with any part of its site. Tts boundary might
lie only a few feet away: But in which direction? There is no room to thes east
or tha chapter house excavations would have ercountered building of this dats.
There seems no reason to, suggest a site to the west. A site to the north, with
the Anglo-Saxon church (and, therefore, presumably its Romano-British basilican
predecessor)_under the present nave, must etill seem the most likely possibility.
It is the 'traditional' siteg and if allows for the ccntinuous veneration of

the preciee site of Alban's grave (at least until nis remains were moved
sastwards to the present shrime in the 12th century), just as in Rome the pzpal
high aliar markss the precise location of S* Peter's grave. The 1978 chapter
house excavations uncovered the east limits of a cemetery of late Saxon male
graves alignad at a slight angle to the axis of the abbey. These graves seemed
then to suggest that the Anglo--Saxon church lay to the north-west, under and-
perhaps at an angle to the present nave.

But the recent excavation has put some considerable guestione to this view. If
the Anglo-Saxon church lies to the north, under the present nave, where are its
monastic buildings? Is there room for them betwsen the excavation and any
possible location of the Anglo-Sa::on church, however aligned, bslow the present
nave? Even supposing the Anglo-Sa<on church did lie under the nave and the
Anglo-Saxon monastery lay some distance away, to the south of the recent
excavation, why were no traces of any ind of Anglo-Saxon activity found in the
recent excavatzon and especially the graves from a cemetery which might have
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lain {as we know from analogies elsewhere) between the church and the monastery
and would have formed a continuation of the cematery already located belouw

the chapter house? '

If all these poirts are tsker into account, the real possibility must emerce
that the wlicle of the Anglo-Saxcn complex, the church znd monastery, may lie
south of the present excavation, below the middle part of Abbey Orcrard. This
is a redical suggestion. It would mean that Paul of Caen, looking for a site
for his vastly larger church, chose an open azea north cf the then existing
church and monastery, unencumbered by existing buildings, where he could build
without physical constraints and witnout disturbing the daily round of life
and worship while the works were going on. It would mean that he chose to
abandon tne site of Alban's grave as he founc it, intending to *translate the
martyr's remains to a new shrine in the new church.

Is there any evidence which supports a southewn site? Certainly not enough

for any kind of certainty, There are hints in the layout of the medisva.
monastery, in tks general topogrsphy of routes in the area, and in the finds

of Anglu=Saxon date from the recent excavation which m.ght support a southern
site, And the graves found under the chapter house in 1978 could almost as well
represent the north-sastern as the south-gastern extremity of the Anglo-Saxon
monks' cemetery, But possibly the most significani pointer is provided by the
date of the Romano-British graves. These are of the 4th century but if they
are part of a larger cemetery which grew outwards over ths years from ihe Roman
city, the area in use at the time of Alban's martyrdom in the 3rd century is
likely to be somewhere dowrhill, further away from the present abbey to the
south or scuth-west., The evclution of the neuwly discovered Roman cemetery may,
tnerefere, provide another scrap of svidence in favour of the idea that the
Anglo-Saxon church and its monastery, as well as 2 Romano-British basilica

and the original grave of Alban, lie not to the no»th, but somewnere to the
south of the recent excavation under the open expanse of Apbey Orchard.

What an extraorcinary prospsct!

Our next step must now be to try Lo gather evidence bearing on these
possibilities. We do not plan to ask permission to dig acain before 1986 at the

earlisss, when all the present results have been written up and published and
when there has been time to consider carefully all the issues involved,

e

Llandrirdod Wells, Powye Chris Arnold

Excavstions wnre carried out during 1584 ty.Chris Arnold (University College

of Wales, Aberystwyth), William Britnell and Peter Dorling (Clwyd=Pouwys
Archaeclogical Trust) of an embenked enclosure and stone church provisionally
identified as Capel Maelog (Figure 6). The documented church was last
mentiored in the early 16th century. Excavation auring 1984 was concentrated
on the centrally positioned church and the area of churchyard betuwsen it and
the erclosure bank, to the north. The church had a minimum of two stone
phases, The first stonme church had a rectangular nave and a smaller rectangular
chancel. Subseguently, the chancel was demolished and apses added to both east
and west ends. A stone setting associated with the later building overlay

the originael east end of the chuich, and may have supported an altar,
Demolition levels on the floor of the chancel produced iron keys, medieval
pottery, and several 14th century coins. The walls of both stone phases were
clay~bonded. The robbing trenches alsoc contained Roman roof-tiles, flue—-tiles,
and hypocaust-tiles, and crushed Roman tile had also been usec in some of the
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floor surfaces, Graves in the chancel and west apse have been excavated

and contained skeletons, unlike those outside tne building. One grave within
the chancel was =dgsd with stones and capped with guartz pebbles., It was cut
through ty the footing of the first phace chancel zrczh. This and other features
in the charcel area hint at a timber predecessor to the first stone building.

The enclosure to the north of the church coriainsd some graves, generzlly close
to the church, Other activities are represented by a curving gulley earlier
than the first phase stone nave and ditches suggesting tive area =nclosed was
sub—divideo at various stcges. Behind the bank on the north side was evidencs
of timber buvildings, hearths, and urusuaily large guantities of medieval
pottery.

Tte excavavwion will continue in 198E,

B00X REVIEW

Brian Milton et al, Four church sxcavat:ons in Essex (fFssex County Council
Occasional Papar no.d)

210mm x 300mm, iii + 68pp, numzrous figs, VIIL pl, Essex County Council 1984

Price £3.00 incl p&p from Essex County Council, Planning Department, Glo<e
House, New Street, Chelmsford CMy 1LF

The four churches whose firal axcavation reports appear in this publication

are typical of the small parish church found in Eesex. None looks particularly
promising but each has sufficient asvidence of a former Mcrman building tc
justify sxravation should the cpportunity arise. ‘

In the aven%, the results were much more than expected, althuugh the
excavatiors were fairly small scale and concerned only, in three cases, with
necessarv work arising from change of use through recdundancy schemes and, in
tha fourth cos=. from major internal repairs. In all shurches, the origiral
building on the site was found to be of timber and Saxon in date., At Cressing
A1l Saints it overlies an even earlier pre-Christian settlement. At Litfle
Oaokley St Mery the late Saxon church (?) with =ssociated charcoal (7) burials
was deliterately buried under an artificial mound on which the early 12th
cantury stone church was built. Here too there is the probatility of a Roman
settlemen- on “he site, discusssd elsewhere. Thz main inter:st at Uest
Thurrock St Clemert lies in the corfirmat.on of the 1912 discovery that the
original stone church had a rectangular charcel and a round nave, In the
followirg discussion on British round churches, however, it is not thought
that there wes any association with the crusading orders. Both West Bergholt
S5t Mary =nd Cressing show that the Saxo-Norman church was 3 single~cellad
apsidal building.

Churches of this plan are now known to be recsonaoly comnon in this part of
East Anglia, justifying further exaomination of other churchec, not only to
confirm tne extent of this tracition but also to sssign to the 11th century
many so=called 12th century =hurchzss.
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The reporcs themselves have been carefully edited so that comparison of
similar features in the four reports is easy and there is a comprehensive
five page hibliography. Two possible omissions are a postscript discussing
the results of the four excavations tegether and *hke lack of information on
the map stowing the location of the churches discussed. It would have been

more ucerul to have shown the location of all the cnurches mentioped in the
text.

RT

C M Clark, 7 G Dawson, and J C Drake Archaenlogy cn the Mosquito Coast,
Centre of Latin American Studies, University of Cambridge, Cccasional Japer
Sublicatinn no 4, nd (1984), viii + 96on 19 rigs., £1.50 + 25p p&p.

P Rahtz and L Walts Wharram Percy: the memorial stunes of the churchyard
(fork University Archaeological Publications no 1, 1983) vi + 38pp 30 plates
8 rigs, 11 tables in text. £4.5C post free.

When Jeremy Jones' booklet How to record graveyarcds was first published in 1976
it was difficult to cauge the market for it and to estimate the demand. The
booklet has now acccmplished its third printing and this notice draus attention
to two putlications where its influence is acknowledged - one of these (Wkarram
Percy) is a predictable offspring but the other is & more surprising ambassador
for the jcint CBA/Rescue publicationr.

The Black River/Rio Tinto expadition on tne north-sast coast of Honduras in
Central America examined both native settlements and the colonial British and
Spanish ventures. The cemetery at Palacios servea the English fort and trading
post ccocupied for seventy years, Five stones survive from the pericd 1741-
1777 and were recorded on CBA Grave Memorial forms (pp 46=51). Other stcnes
had been damaged by treasure hunters or broken up to 3ell as good luck charms.
The five stones were recumbent and it is suggested Lhat this represents =a
backward colonial practice, a verdict which strikes an unsympathetic chord in
Leecs where this was the common foom of memorial until late in Victoria's reign.

The other moncuraph is a lcgical development frcm Jeremy Jones' work at
Deerhurst. Here at Wharram Percy his tutor Philip Rahtz tooether witb Lorna
Watts, examines in detail the 31 stones, rangirg from 1770 to 1906, in the
churchyard south of the parish church., Although the authors recognize that
they are publishirg 'a poor and unrepresentative group of stores', the special
circurstances of the Wharram Research Project can justify this deluxe
treatment which could well be Imitated and extended elsewhere. Within the
period 1770-1878 only 15% of the lozal pupulation were commemarated by
churchyard monumentss the inscriptions and styles are fully recorded,
Occupation and social status ave analysed, together with genealogy, age at
death, seascn of death, and evidence 7f religiours beliefs, This handsomely-
produced and finely-illustrated monograph must oce seen as the pioneer study
for the recording of rural churchyards. With fuller material the conclusicns
on social estatus ard the seasonal nature of death will be mnre soundly Yasrd;

the discissions about the styles and workshops of the uroan monumental masons
will be set on a firmer data-bace.

Lawrence Sutler
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floor surfaces, Graves in the chancel and west apse have besn excavated

and contained skeletons, unlike those outside tne building. One grave within
the chancel was edged with stones and capped with quartz pebbles, It was cut
through by the footing of the first phase chancel erch. This and other features
in the charcel area hint at a timber predecessor to the first stone building.

The enclosure to the north of the church coptainad some graves, gensrally close
to the church. Other activities are represented by a curving gulley garlier
than the first phase stone nave and ditches suggesting tie area gnclosed was
sub—divicdeo at various stages. Behind the bank on the north side was evidence
of timber buildings, hearths, and upusually large guantities of medieval
pottery.

Tte excavavion will continue in 198E,.

BOOX REVIEW
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Brian Milton et al, Four church excavations in Essex [Fssex County Council
Uccasional Paper no.4)

210mm x 3%00mm, iii + 68pp, numerous figs, VIIi pl, Essex County Council 1984

Price £3.00 incl p&p from Essex County Council, Planning Department, Gloce
House, New Street, Chelmsford CMi 1LF '

The four churches whose final excavation reports appear in this publication

are typical of the small parish church found in Essex. None looks particularly
promising but each has sufficient evidence of a former Ncrman building to
justify excavation should the cpportunity arise. '

In the esvent, the results were much more than expected, although the
excavations were fairly small scale and concerned only, in three cases, with
necessary work arising from change of use through redundancy schemes and, in
the fourth cass. from major internal repairs. In all shurches, the origiral
building on the site was found to be of timber and Saxon in date. At Cressing
All Saints it overlies an even earlier pre-Christian settlement., At Little
Oakley St Mary the late Saxon church (?) with associated charcoal (7) burials
was deliterately buried under an artificial mound on which the early 12th
century stone church was built. Here too there is the probatility of a Roman
settlement on the eite, discussed elsewhers. Th2 main inter:st at West
Thurrock St Clemert lies in the confirmat.on ol the 1912 discovery that the
original stone church had a rectangular charmcel and a round nave,. In the
followirg discussion on British round churches, however, it is not thought
that there wes any association with the crusading orders. Both West Bergholt
St Mary and Cressing show that the Saxo-Norman church was a8 single-celled
apsidal building. ' '

Churches of this plan are now known to be reasonably common in this part of
East Anglia, justifying further examination of other churchee, not only to
confirm the extent of this tradition but also to sssign to the 11th century
many so-called 12th century =hurches. ‘
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The reporcs themselves have been carefully edited so that comparison of
similar features in the four reports is easy and there is a comprehensive
five page hibliography. Two possible omissions are a postscript discussing
the results of the four excavations tegether and *the lack of information on
the man showing the location of the churches discussed. It would have been

more ucelul to have shoun the location of all the cnurches mentioned in the
text,

RT
C M Clarky, r G Dawson, and J C Drake Archaenlogy cn the Mosquitb Coast,

Centre of Latin American Studies, Univaersity of Cembridge, Cccasional Paper
Bublication no 4, nd (1984), viii + 96mn 19 Figs. £1.50 + 25p p&p.

P Rahtz arnd L Walts Wharram Percy: the memorial stuwnes of the churchyard
(fork University Archaeological Publications no 1, 1983) vi + 38pp 30 plates
8 figs, 11 tables in text. £4.,50 post free.

When Jeremy Jones' booklet How to record graveyards was first published in 1976
it was difficult to gauge the market for it and to estimate the demand. The
booklet has now acccmplished its third printing and this notice draus attention
to two putlications where its influence is acknowledged - one of these (Wharram
Percy) is a predictable offspring but the other is & more surprising ambassador
for the joint CBA/Rescue publication,

The Black River/Rio Tinto expedition on tne north-east coast of Honduras in
Caentral America examined both native settlements and the colonial British and
Spanish ventures., The cemetery at Palacios servea the English fort and treding
post cceoupied for seventy years. Five stones survive from the pericd 1741~

1777 and were recorded on CBA Grave Memorial forms (pp 46-=51)., Other stcnes
had been damaged by treasure hunters or broken up to s3ell as good luck charms,
The five stones were recumbent and it is suggested Lhat this represents &
backward colonial practice, a verdict which strikes an unsympathetic chord in
Leecs where this was the common form of memorial until late in Victoria's reign.

The other moncuraph is a logical development frcm Jeremy Jones' work at
Deerhurst. Here at Wharram Percy his tutor Philip Rahtz together with Lorna
Watts, examines in detail the 31 stones, rangirg from 1770 to 1906, in the
churchyard south of the parish churcn. Although the authors recognize that
they are publishirng 'a poor and un:iepresentative group of stones', the special
circurstances of the Wharram Research Project can justify this deluxe
treatment which could well be imitated and extended elsewhere. UWithin the
period 1770-1878 anly 15% of the local puopulation were commemorated by
churchyard monuments; the inscriptions and styles are fully recorded.
Occupation and social status ave analysed, together with genealogy, age at
death, seascn of death, and svidence of religiour beliefs., This handsomely~-
produced and finely-illustrated monograph must pe seen as the pioneer study
for the recording of rural churchyards. With fulier material the conclusicns
on social status and the seasonal nature of death will be mnre soundly hasedg
the discussions about the styles and workshops of the urban monumental masons
will be set an a firmer data-base, '

Lawrence Butler
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contours at 0.1m intervals on modern ground surface

Figure 6






